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ITEMS FOR SALE BY THE SOCIETY

Tea Towels & Five Norfolk Churches design £3.00 Plus 51p p&p
Tea Towels & Five Suffolk Churches design £3.00 Plus 51p p&p
Notelets -Suffolk or Norfolk Churches, 10 with envelopes £1.30 Plus 81p p&p
Bookmarks -Red leather with logo/Society name in gold £1.00 Plus 32p p&p
East Anglian Round Tower Churches Guide

Revised edition of A5 booklet £1.50 Plus 50p p&p
The Round Church Towers of England - By S Hart £15.99 Post free*
Round Tower Churches to the West, East and South of Norwich

By Jack Sterry £10.99 Post free*
Round Tower Churches on the Norfolk and Suffolk Borders

By Jack Sterry £9.99 Post free*
Round Tower Churches. Hidden Treasure of North Norfolk

By Jack Sterry £9.99 Post free*

Round Tower Churches in Mid Norfolk, North Norfolk and Suffolk
By Jack Sterry £10.99 Post free*

*These items are posted at no extra cost.
Please forward orders to: - Mrs P Spelman, 105 Norwich Road, New Costessey,
Norwich NR5 OLF. Cheques payable to The Round Tower Churches Society.
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WOLTERTON MANNINGTON

PARK GARDENS & COUNTRYSIDE

HISTORIC PARK around eighteenth century .
mansion. Park open every day from 9am COUNTRYSIDE Walks and Trails.

Car Park £2.00 Park open every day from 9 am. Car Park £2.
Trails- Orienteering Adventure Playground GARDENS. Extensive beautiful gardens
Round Tower of St. Margaret's ChuiohPark. surroundmedieval moated manor.

Flower Festival 6th, 7th, 8th May Heritage Rose Garden

Hall open Fridays from 13th May to 28th Tearooms Shop- Plants and Roses.

October, 25pm (last tour 4 pm) £5.00 entry. Open MaySeptember, Sundays-5pm

Write ortelephone for details and for special events JuneAugust. Weds. Thurs, & Fridays-5lpm
programme. £5.00/£4.00 Children Fre&vents Programme.

Mannington & Wolterton Estates Norwich NR11 7BB Telephone Saxthorpe (01263) 584175/768444
Email: admin@walpoleestate.co.uk
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The nearest round towered churches to High Wych are Broomfielc
(Essex) and Bardfield Saling (Essex), and nearer still, if Pritchett eve
saw it before it vani shed, at

Stortford (Hertfordshire). In fact, amongst Essex churches, the outwar
appearance of the church at High Wych reminds one most of Sout
Ockenden Church which was heavily restored in 1866, five years afte
the consecration of High Wych. Ugly or not, in our view the church at
High Wych is not without some interest and in respect to round towe
churches built by the Victorians, it should not be overlooked. High Wych
church has not an East Anglian feel whatsoever. It does however ect
something of the spirit of Booton Church (1875, completed 1891, S

Mi chael and AlIIl Angel s, Pevsner:
Early English compositionL{tyenss ai d o f It A e
built in the right spirito!) in

and written off as a horror of the Victorian age and was equally criticizec
by Pevsner as being fidepressingl
and his disciples were busy in
building and singled out in tourist publications as a site worth seeing i
the county. Perhaps the round towered church at High Wych will one
day share something of its reputation.

Footnotes:

[1] Pritchett left other examples of his handiwork in Newport, Essex
where he designed and built the
and the entire neGothic church at Therfield in Northern Hertfordshire
to replace the former mediaeval
Maryods Newport, 1858) . Hi s oth
Green (near the Henry Moore collection of famous sculptures), not fa
from High Wych.

[2] The Story of Sawbridgeworth: the church and its people (supplied by
Ms Carol Fouters, Hertfordshire Archives and Local Studies: Local
History Centre of Hertfordshire County Council).

[3] Willis organ details: HertfordshireHigh Wych, St. James the
Great[N14180] Grid ref: TL4614Survey date: 2000; (Organ playable).

H.T. Norris and T.S. Norris
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ST MARGARET'S CHURCH, WOLTERTON
A RUINED ROUND TOWER

This church represents a number of enigmas. It is amongst the oldest in
Norfolk yet its round tower was one of the last to be built in the late Middle
Ages. Churches were originally placed near to eroads yet Wolterton is
isolated from the network of country lanes surrounding it. The parish was
always small and poor yet the church tower is still substantial and even
ambitious in its design. All this takes some explaining.

In the early 11 century St Benet's Abbey (near Ludham, in the Norfolk
Broads) was endowed with the principle part of Wolterton. It was given half
its advowson, the church glebe land and a pldagdi why? Normally it
would be impossible to answer such a question but Wolterton seems to have
failed as a settlement, early in its history. It was probably placed under the
manorial jurisdiction of Mannington, a small parish to the west and the two
places have been closely linked ever since. This meant that Wolterton
needed to be resettled; ie 'planted’ by the Abbot. Why else would the
common field to the west of the village and a rectangular Village Green
surrounded on three sides by tenements with the churchyard on the fourth,
southern side, all have such a regular layout?

An ancient trackwvay diagonally crossed the Green, leading nomist to

the coast at Weybourne and seatst to Blicklingi Grimes WayAnother
trackway led east and west, so the chuwas originally placed at an
intersection of crossroads. A freeman called Thorold held a small estate
here before 1066 did he establish Wolterton's first church? In the
Domesday Survegf 1086, the parish held 12 men and a population of
about 4050 people. This figure has remained fairly constant ever since
(in 1603, 32 Anglican communicants were reported) so only a small church
was ever needed here. Despite the Black Death of 1349, the church was
fairly well endowed. In 1369, a survey was made of the church's contents
and it recorded 11 liturgical books (as required by Canon Law) but no
Bible; copes; vestments and a vestment chest; manual bells; a procession
banner with staves; a cofflsier with its carpet and coverlet; a Lenten Veil;
various vessels silver chalices, cruets, censor, pyx, oil container, etc. How
could such a poor parish afford all these things? The answer could only
come from patronage.

The manorial family of 'de Wolterton' is recorded in the parish from the
12" century onwards. They lived in a small mahouse 200 metres south

E

handling of gothic forms as anything in the Art Nouveau of 40 years
| at er 0o ( Pevs n-296). The ehurch)is op the gredtests
architectural interest, unaltered and retaining its original scheme of
painted decoration, countppointing the red and white brickwork of
the interioro.

As can be seen (bel ow) from the
church and the original building of the National School High Wych,
if viewed together as a composition, offer a very impressive
architectural edifice. In all fairness, the school with its uncoursed
F knapped flint buildings and the
church are inseparable the one
from the other. This may
explain why the round towerlet

of the church is at an angle to
the structure in order to
accommodate the South
doorway which was clearly

built to have a direct access to
the school.

According to the
Hertfordshire report,, TL4614 (da
a lofty fourbay nave, South aisle, South porch, SeMist round
tower, a raised chancel, Eastern apse, and Stett vestry with
rounded Easend. The round plan forms are echoed in the
partconical form of tower, apse and vestry, flanking the higher
gabl ed nave roofo. The tower h
Moreover, the church has an original Willis organ [3]. The apsidal
church is constructed of flint, red brick and stone dressings. A lower
portion of the round tower at High Wych is of circular cresstion,
whereas an upper portion thereof is of octagonal form with belfry
wi ndows and an attractive Dbl ue
adjacent Star of David. To serve its purpose, it would seem to us to
be wholly successful and added to it there are small attractive artistic
features, not only the stained glass and organ but, for example, two
coloured tiles on either side of the South dbo@&lpha and Omega
to add to its interest.
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HIGH WYCH CHURCH, HERTFORDSHIRE:

A striking round towered church of an original Victorian design

" Unlike Higham in Suffolk
4 s and the recently built
- Catholic Church round

tower in Walsingham which
specifically duplicate
classical East Anglian round
tower church architecture,
tm®8 the church of St. James at
et 8 High Wych was founded
Contemporary view from the south. Clock ~ on 25 July 1860. It
appears to be a later addittosee sketch p21. was completed and
consecrated on 17 June
1861. The church is a striking village church in George Edward
Pritchetit®2)1 p&sddal interpretation of the early
English style. Pritchett was slightly later than Pugin: Pugin built a

DI A v S

of the church and 50 metres east of the present mansion. Sir John de

house for the headmaster at St. Edmunds College, Old Hall Green in Wolterton held the estate between 138®1. Blomefield (170%2) wrote
1851 (for Puginds organ, see Sga that Sir John and his wife 6rebuilt
Area)). High Wych is a village in rural East Hertfordshire located south aisle; a south porch and a north vestry. The porch faced in the
between Sawbridgeworth and Harlow, and close to the Essex border. direction of the manehouse rather than the village to the north. They were
Aside from a few old cottages, a pub and other houses of some succeeded by their son, Walter de Woltertsho held the lordship and
antiquity, its central point of interest is the church of St. James which patronage up to 1437 when the estate was inherited by two daughters and
one could suggest offers the only church with a round tower of any age then sold off. Walter was the last of a line which had extended over eight

generations. Walter and his wife Christina were probably the benefactors of

in the county of Hertfordshire. \ : :
the new tower and the stained glass window memorials of the de Wolterton

This church has had a strong, indeed damning, assessment from family.
Nikolaus Pevsner in his Hertfordshire volume of the Buildings of A tiny drawing of the church was added to a Wolterton Estate Map in 1732
England 1953/1978. In describing the works of G.E. Pritchett, he by the landsurveyor, James Corbridge. It shows the chancel roof lower than
states on page 34: AHigh Wych <« the roof of the nave. This contradicts what Blomefield wrote soon
mentioned as an imminently typical example of high Victorian design afterwards. He said they were tesame height did he mean the same
at its most revolting !0 width? On the north side of the chancel there was a window with stained
glass showing the effigies of Sir John and his wife; their coat of arms below
Il n DOE, Listed Building, East H and a susburst emblem above (an amazing relic had it survived!). The east
church of original design of w h window displayed the twelve apostles with the Creed in scrolls emitting
shows considerable skill on the part of the architect (Ecclesiologist from their mouths a device common in the late medieval period. William
(1961) pp. 282) and whi ch Pe Le Neve from the College of Heralds, visited the Church in October 1630
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and noted seven windows with armorial stained glasssides those already
mentioned were the west tower window showing the arms of over ten
families; two windows on the south side of the chancel and another two on
the north side of the nave. On the east wall was a recess with a statue of the
BVM. 'Our Lady of Pity'. There was a guild to St Margaret perhaps marked
by a hanging oilamp. In the 1640s, Wolterton had a very Puritan and
controversial vicar, Paul Amgraut from the German Palatine who was
sponsored by Sir John Potts of Mannington Hall. Many of the elaborate
features inside the church probably disappeared soon after Le Neve's visit at
the hands of the Puritans. Near the preacher's desk in the chancel there was .
sepulchre brass to the Rev. Thomas and Margaret Langdon. He died in 1506.
He is not in the priest list so was he a curate in Wolterton when the tower was
completed? About the same time, John Dowsing left a bequestdeatiag

the church with pews.

Edmund de Scammler was Bishop of Norwich (3984, during which time

he turned back the tide of the couARaformation. His son Edward bought

the Wolterton estate in 1595 from the executors of Robert Houghton. The
Scamler/Scambler family were associated with Wolterton for five
generations. On the east wall of the chancel there was an elaborate mural
tablet showing James and Ann Scamler, as a pair of kneeling figures at
prayer. On the sanctuary floor there were five black ledger slabs to the
Scamler family displaying their coat of arms.

In 1722, Horatio, younger brother of the first Prime Minister, Sir Robert
Walpole began to buy land in the parish and started to plan a new mansion
surrounded by an ornamental park. Neither church, village or Tudor manor
house had a part to play in this scheme. The mamase burnt down in

1724 and its remains were demolished. In 1737, the last priest of Wolterton
was presented the Rev. George England. Wolterton was then consolidated
with the adjacent parish of Wickmere. Between 1482the cottages of the
village were demolished (except the parsonage) and dispersed away from the
church. Marriages in the church ended in 1740; burials in 1747 and baptisms
in 1765. Blomefield writing in the mid700s recorded that the aisle, porch
and vestry had already been demolished. In 1797, William Ward was paid to
demolish the nave and chancel. The site of the church nave is now marked by
a declivity in the ground with embankments on three sides. It is tempting to
think that the rubble from the church as well as its foundations lie under these
mounds. They remain archaeologically unexcavated but protected as an
Ancient Monument.

If in the area of South Pickenham All Saints, where a portion of St
Christopher remains, interested persons are well advised to visit the
nearby church of Houghton on the Hill St Mary*. The paintings are
perhaps the most remarkable found in modern times in England,
dating from around 1080. The hamlet has now disappeared and the
church was derelict until rescued and restored as a labour of love by
a resident of North Pickenham. Although now having a square tower
it is strongly felt it once had a round tower, and apse. Sporle St
Mary, approximately 4 miles north is worth atderr (not RT).

Not all paintings at these churches have been covered but an *
indicates buildings either with extensive remains or those
considered to be of high artistic merit.

Valerie Grose

ROUND TOWER CHURCHES SOCIETY
TOURS 2011

Last Saturday Tour - First church 2.30pm
39 September Hemblington, Little Plumstead, Old Catton

Everyone is welcome to attend the Tour. There is no charge,
although donations to the churches are encouraged.

Refreshments will be provided by one of the churches.
Any queries please phone O6Ljyn

Society for Church Archaeology Conference
Churches and the Sea
Chichester 2nd- 4th September 2011

Contact 6Lyn Stilgoe on 01328
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and the lowly figure on the bottom is markedm sine regngl am
without a kingdom). Some writing is discernable at Illketshall.

A Doom is a painting of thelLast
Judgmentand was used to remind
medieval Christians of thafterlife

" and Judgment Day, and to help keep

. them mindful of sinning by showing

in graphic detail the dramatic
difference between Heaven and hell.
There are many variations but
generally contain Jesus Christ at the
top with Heaven and hell represented
on either side of him, St Michael weighing souls to see who is fit for
Heaven (after Christ has judged them) and angels sounding their
trumpets. A Doom was usually sited either on the rear (Western) wall,
if that had a suitable space, or at the fra@itgncelend) of a church,
often on the Chancel arch itself, so that it would be constantly in view
of worshipers as they looked towards the Priest during services. At
West Somerton* fragments are on the south wall; an exceptionally fine
angel sounding the last trump can be seen. If visiting the RT churches
of Bramfield St Andrew or nearby Thorington St Peter (no paintings)
it is well worth travelling a couple of miles to Wenhaston St Peter
where a Doom with much detail, painted on boards was found, in the
churchyard, the colours being revealed after a heavy shower. Bartlow
St Mary has a depiction of the Weighing of Souls and a large dragon.

West Somerton

Mutford St Andrew has a feint painting with ghdike appearance;
Bramfield St Andrew: a white cross in a depressed arch; Gisleham
Holy Trinity: an Angel with large wings; Haddiscoe: a few fragments
of The Three Living and the Three Dea&thles St Margaret: St James
the Great with a pilgrim staff; Hardley St Margaret: St Catherine with
her wheel; Fritton St Edmund: Ecclesia and Synagoga; Risby*:
Massacre of the Innocents; Potter Heigham* and Risby*; Flight into
Egypt; Risby: the passion of Christ: West Somerton*: Entry into
Jerusalem, the Flagellation, and Christ crowned with thorns. Seething
St Margaret and St Remegius* has sufficient wall paintings to make a
visit worthwhile.
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Some of the contents of Wolterton Church were probably moved to
Wickmerei a huge 'Armada’ Chest and a painted panel, now attached to its
pulpit. The font seems to have gone to Mannington Church. Two bells were
still in Wolterton's Tower in 1807 (says the Church Terrier). The Latin
inscription on one bell suggests it was -Reformation in date Robert
Plummer made me in honour of St MarggreThe public lanes in the
parish were moved out beyond its boundaries leaving the tower in splendid
isolation. Wolterton Park and gardens were laid out in the grand manner
around 1730, from plans made by the King's Gardener, Charles Bridgeman.
Horatio Walpole became a Baron in 1756 and the grounds were extended to
form a North Park, which is where the tower lies. Its ruin was retained as a
romantic 'eyecatcher' in the landscape as was then fashionable. This may
have preserved it from random demolition for its materials. The remains of
the churchyard were cleared in the early 1800s and the tombstones were
sold off in Norwich by the Lord Walpole,"2Earl of Orford (17521822)
including the Scamler memorials. The coffins of later Earls were driven
several times around the churchyard before being conveyed for burial in the
family vault in Wickmere Church, to placate the disturbed spirits of the
departed so local folklore tells us.

An assessment of the Architecture of the Tower

The lower part of the tower is circular and the upper third is octagonal.
Internally the tower is circular for its full height including the eastern side.
There is an inset at the string course where the circular and octagonal parts
join. On the ground floor there was a large west window. Its stone tracery
and jambs have gone but its pointed arch remains, with voussoirs of
alternating flints and red bricks.

Above it at 1st floor level there is another pointed window which is smaller
and with a shallower arch. Its hoeaabuld, cill and jambs have chamfered

red bricks. Either side of the opening there arelgytholes. In the upper,
belfry stage there are four tall openings (perhaps with two lights) in
Perpendicular style. The corners of the octagonal part have limestone
quoins. The battlements survive mainly on the east side of the parapet.
These have squared flints in dressed stone panels. The flints over the whole
tower were selected to have a consistentdggby colour, shaped to make
even courses and with galleted flint fragments in the mortar joints. The
flints are not well bedded into the wall. A few patches of the facing flints
have fallen off but some were recently replaced when the fabric of the tower
was stabilised. The consistency of the external design of the tower suggests
that both parts of it were erected as a single build.



On the south side there was a narrow, spiral staircase in a turret that rose up tc
the first floor. It was entered from the nave but only the upper door
survives. The stair was built within the thickness of the walls of the tower and
nave. The turret had an external finish that was similar to the tower
suggesting that they were built at the same time, though the hood at the top
does not quite fit that conclusion.

On the eastern side of the tower, the outline of the nave roof can be seen. The
nave and chancel roofs were thatched (says Blomefield) which fits with the
steep pitch of the surviving roof coping. The eastern side of the tower has
rough walling, using flint rubble. From about a third of the way up the gable,
the circular wall of the tower's drum ovsails the flat wall of the nave by
about 600mm. This means that only the top three metres of the drum's
exterior is fully circular. From the rough appearance of the tower wall it
seems that it was built up against an earlier and existing gable wall. When the
nave was demolished, the earlier wall was carefully removed up to the height
of the overhang. The jambs of the archway contain rough flints, ferricrete
and a few medieval bricks. The arch is constructed entirely of bricks. These
project forward of the wall face so the archway was bonded into the earlier
(lost) wall. The surviving tower arch is tall and narrow. These proportions
suggest an early date, say of the Norman period but there is no evidence to
support such an idea. There is no sign of an upper doorway above this arch.
The arch rises to the full height of the ground floor chamber as indicated by
the large west window. Inside the small towspace there is an oven used for
baking Communion Wafers. lIts flue rises up to half the height of the stair
turret where there is a shipening with stone jambs capped by a brick. On the
ground floor there is also a rougher arched recess, like a cupboard and
without a flue. This is near the floor level and it lies awkwardly in part under
the west window. The flange walls of the gable have also disappeared above
ground, including the quoins. On the north side of the tower there is a vertical
line of cut flints where the tower abutted the nave wall. This demonstrates
that there was no fillet there.

SRH produced a plan that assumes the nave width was about 4.75metres
which would have allowed only three pew places each side of a harrow aisle.
That suggests a tiny church appropriate for a small congregation. Such
proportions would be consistent with the early date suggested by the tower
arch; ie Norman. Robert Ladbrooke made a drawing of the tower from the
southwest in the 1820s. By then the ruin was already shrouded in ivy, holly,
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Risby St Giles* (also visited by E. Clive Rouse following advice
sought from the rector around 1949) hadNali me TangeréMary
Magdalene meets Jesus in the gardeNpli me tangere meaning

"don't touch me" / "touch me not", is thetin version of words
spoken, according tdohn 20:17 by Jesugo Mary Magdalenavhen

she recognises hiatfter his resurrectiorThis biblical scene has been
painted by several artists frofira Bartolommeo (1506), Hans
Hol bein the Younger, Correggio.
painted from Correggiobs exampl e

on display at the National Gallery in London shows Mary
Magdalene, traditionally wearing a red frock and clutching her pot
of oil.

The wheel of Fortune
(discovered at llketshall St
Andrew in 2001) is very rare in
English Parish churches, there
being only one other survival (in
Rochester Cathedral), and of
slightly earlier date. It is the
emblem of the goddess who
spins it at random, changing the
positions of those on the wheel.
Some suffer great misfortune,
others gain windfalls and the
wheel symbolizes that luck, good or bad, never |asts. Wheehas
assisted the progress of civilisation and means of transportation and
was widely used in Greek/medieval literature and art to aid religious
i nstruction, to i nclude a Bocc
Pi senomdé al so Thamwuseof yow toleagua rare :
with song and cymbals while he himself danced naked at a feast,
wherein even while he executed his whirling gyrations he felt no fear
of the wheel of forturge. T h Rosgwinelaavin many medieval
cathedrals, are based on the Wheel and characteristically, have four
shelves, or stages of life, with four human figures, usually labelled
on the leftregnabo(l shall reign), on the topegno(l reign) and is
usually crowned, descending on the rigagnavi (I have reigned)

llketshall St Andrew
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